UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

Stochastically estimated covariance matrices for independent and cumulative fission yields in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4h74w0sz

Authors

Matthews, Eric F Bernstein, Lee A Younes, Walid

Publication Date

2021-07-01

DOI

10.1016/j.adt.2021.101441

Peer reviewed



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Atomic Data and Nuclear Data Tables



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/adt

Stochastically estimated covariance matrices for independent and cumulative fission yields in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations



Eric F. Matthews^{a,*}, Lee A. Bernstein^{a,b}, Walid Younes^b

^a Department of Nuclear Engineering, University of California - Berkeley, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA ^b Nuclear Science Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 1 February 2021 Received in revised form 16 April 2021 Accepted 20 April 2021 Available online 7 May 2021 A Monte-Carlo method for the generation of correlation and covariance matrices for independent and cumulative fission yields has been developed. The method uses a constrained Monte-Carlo resampling structure in order to vary evaluated fission yield libraries in a way that meets basic conservation principles. This results in the generation of correlation/covariance matrices with limited model bias and uncertainty; the matrices are primarily reflective of the evaluated fission yield uncertainties and correlations that arise from the evaluation process. This method has been applied to generate correlation and covariance matrices for all of the fissioning systems of the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations, marking the first time such matrices have been generated for all of these systems. These covariance matrices can be used to improve uncertainty estimation in calculations of reactor antineutrino emission rates, decay heat problems, and nuclear forensics.

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adt.2021.101441

0092-640X/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail address: efmatthews@berkeley.edu (E.F. Matthews).

E.F. Matthews, L.A. Bernstein and W. Younes

Contents

1.	Motivation
2.	Method
	2.1. Independent yields
	2.2. Cumulative yields
	2.3. Generation of consistent $P(v, A)$ data
	2.4. Limitations and benchmarking
3.	Results
4.	Conclusions
	Declaration of competing interest
	Acknowledgments
	Appendix, Supplementary data
	References

1. Motivation

In fission, a nucleus undergoes a deformation that leads to the scission of the nucleus into at least two fragments. These fragments have high excitation energy and undergo prompt neutron and photon emission. When the prompt neutron emission has ceased, the fragments are referred to as "products". The probability that a particular fission product will be produced directly from a fission event is called an "independent yield". The probability that a particular fission product will exist at some point in time after fission, either due to direct production from fission or due to production from the decay of a parent fission product, is called a "cumulative yield".

The measurement and evaluation of independent and cumulative fission yields is the result of decades of exceptional research by scientists from across the globe. Continued research in this area is needed to meet the ever-advancing needs of users. Neither the fission yield evaluation (based on Refs. [1,2]) in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 (Evaluated Nuclear Data File) evaluated library [3] nor the fission yield evaluation (based on Refs. [4,5]) in the JEFF-3.3 (Joint Evaluated File for Fission and Fusion) evaluated library [6] contain an estimation of correlation/covariance between fission product yields. These covariance and correlation matrices for independent and cumulative fission product yields have been identified as a pressing nuclear data need [7,8]. These matrices are needed for applications in reactor antineutrino rate calculations [9-12], decay heat calculations [13], and any other calculations that incorporate fission yield data such as nuclear forensics.

Nuclear data libraries that are used in applications, such as those listed above, are produced by scientists with specialized skills in a process called "evaluation". The evaluation process brings together experimental measurements of nuclear properties, nuclear physics modeling, and the expertise of the evaluator to produce these nuclear data libraries. Therefore, there are three keys sources where correlation arises from in evaluated nuclear data libraries: **physics, experiment,** and **evaluation**.

Each of these three sources introduces a unique set of error and correlation and all three of these sources are present in all evaluated nuclear data libraries to some degree. In an ideal case – if experimental capabilities and measurements were perfect and errorless and the evaluation was conducted flawlessly with exact modeling capabilities – the correlation between the values in a nuclear data library would be purely physical (i.e., those that arise from the underlying physics of the measured property). However, this ideal case does not occur in reality and consideration of correlations arising from experimental and evaluation sources is required in order provide users of nuclear data libraries with realistic uncertainties and covariance matrices.

Ideally, fission yield covariances would be generated with the evaluation in order to maximize consistency. In the interim, methods for estimating fission product yield covariance matrices have been proposed [13-17]. These methods rely on an underlying model of the fission process to determine correlations between fission products, and therefore give an estimation of the physical correlations that are discussed above. For example, the works of Rochman et al. [14] and Leray et al. [15] use the GEF code [18,19] to generate their matrices. These methods require that the model of fission is reliably accurate and that model parameters exist for a compound system of interest. Often parameters for these models have been determined for only a small number of well-known compound systems [15,16], limiting their scope to be less than that of the compound systems currently listed in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and IEFF-3.3 evaluations. These model-based methods are an important component of determining fission yield covariance matrices; they estimate the physical component of correlations in evaluated nuclear data libraries. Nevertheless, these only provide a part of the correlation information that users need and must be complemented with estimations of the experimental and evaluation components.

The fact that these model-based methods do not take experimental correlations fully into consideration has been previously noted in literature [20]. It should also be noted that the evaluation process and its potential to introduce additional error and correlation into evaluated fission yield libraries has been previously observed through inconsistencies between evaluated fission yields and fission neutron multiplicity distributions [21]. This observed inconsistency, and the evaluation correlation introduced by it, is captured by the new method presented in this publication, as will be detailed in Section 2.3.

In order to address the topics discussed above, the method presented was formulated. It seeks to limit model dependence and focuses primarily on correlations that arise from the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations and the experimental data that underlies them. In addition to this, this publication also seeks to ensure open access to the correlation and covariance matrices resulting from this method. While the alternative methods listed above for covariance/correlation matrix generation exist, the results of these methods have not been made publicly available. To address this issue, the matrices that result from the method presented have been made immediately available to the nuclear science community at nucleardata.berkeley.edu/FYCOM. In the interest of reproducible science, a workflow for the calculation of these matrices has been preserved in Ref. [22].

2. Method

2.1. Independent yields

Independent fission yield libraries should obey a number of conserved relationships. The following Monte-Carlo resampling method is structured to conserve the five conditions given below. These conditions are modified from similar conditions proposed by Fiorito et al. [13].

In a fission event, at least two fission products must be produced. Therefore, binary fission yields should sum to two:

$$\sum_{i} Y_i = 2 \tag{1}$$

where Y_i is the independent yield of nuclide *i*.

The total charge must be conserved, therefore the total charge of the compound system, Z_{CN} , should be recovered:

$$\sum_{i} Y_i Z_i = Z_{CN} \tag{2}$$

where Z_i is the atomic number of nuclide *i*.

The total baryon number must be conserved, therefore the total baryon number of the compound system, A_{CN} , less the average number of fission neutrons emitted, $\bar{\nu}$, should be recovered:

$$\sum_{i} Y_{i}A_{i} = A_{CN} - \bar{\nu} \tag{3}$$

where A_i is the mass number of nuclide *i*.

Assuming charged particle emission from fission fragments is negligible, the net yield to products with a particular atomic number, Z, should be equal to the net yield to products with the complementary atomic number, $Z_{CN} - Z$:

$$\sum_{i} Y(Z, A_i) = \sum_{j} Y(Z_{CN} - Z, A_j)$$

$$\tag{4}$$

For a given fission yield library there should exist some midpoint mass number, A_{mid} , such that yields on either side of this midpoint should sum to one:

$$\sum_{A_i > A_{mid}} Y(A_i) = \sum_{A_i \le A_{mid}} Y(A_i) = 1$$
(5)

Eq. (5) determines which nuclei are heavy ($A > A_{mid}$) and which are light ($A \le A_{mid}$) in the resampling method. It also states the midpoint of the fission product distribution is constant. This is expected even in the extreme case of symmetric fission as changing this midpoint also changes the total mass distributed to the fission fragments from the compound nucleus. In reality, Eq. (5) may only be approximately true due to mass number being an integer and not a continuous variable. However, exploiting this condition allows the Monte-Carlo resampling method to be structured such that the conditions in Eqs. (1)–(3), and (4) are also conserved. In this method, A_{mid} is selected by finding the A in each fission yield library that best reproduces Eq. (5).

The following steps give the method that is used to produce resampled fission yield libraries that meet the conditions given in Eqs. (1)-(5):

- 1. Select a random number, *X*, between 0 and 1. If *X* is less than 0.5, the yields on the 'light' side $(A \le A_{mid})$ will be resampled. Otherwise, yields on the 'heavy' side $(A > A_{mid})$ will be resampled.
- 2. For each *A* chain on the selected side, randomly select a fission product yield to be resampled. The probability that a given product is selected the should be set such that high-yield, low-uncertainty products are preferentially selected. Resample that yield about a normal distribution with a centroid equal to its evaluated yield and width equal to its evaluated yield uncertainty.
- 3. Scale the other fission product yields in the *A* chain by the same percent change realized for the product yield in Step 2.

- 4. Normalize the yields on the selected side such that their sum equals 1.
- 5. Generate fission yields on the complementary side using the fission neutron multiplicity distribution, $P(\nu, A)$:

$$Y_{frac}(Z_{CN} - Z, A_{CN} - A - \nu) = P(\nu, A)Y(Z, A)$$
(6)

$$Y(Z, A) = \sum_{A} \sum_{\nu} Y_{frac}(Z_{CN} - Z, A_{CN} - A - \nu)$$

$$Y(Z, A) = \sum_{A} \sum_{\nu} \left[P(\nu, A_{CN} - A - \nu) + Y(Z_{CN} - Z, A_{CN} - A - \nu) \right]$$
(7)

- 6. Repeat Steps 1-5 N times. Select N such that statistical noise is minimized.
- 7. Calculate the resulting correlation and covariance matrices from the *N* trials.

Conservation of Eq. (5) is a given of the method. The conservation of Eq. (1) and (4) can be proven analytically. Eqs. (2) and (3) are numerically verified to be conserved to within 0.01% for the ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation and to within 0.05% for the JEFF-3.3 evaluation. In principle, one can combine Steps 2 and 3 and simply resample each fission product yield about its evaluated yield and yield uncertainty. However, the ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation assumed a Gaussian distribution of yield in Z for each A chain [1]. Therefore, Step 3 is justified as it introduces the positive correlation between product yields within a given A chain that the ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation process would have introduced. Step 5 relies on the accuracy of the P(v, A) data used and Section 2.3 will address how P(v, A) data is obtained for all of the compound systems in the evaluations. For Step 6, this study used N = 10000 to produce the presented matrices. The Mersenne Twister pseudo-random number generator with a seed of 0 was used for each matrix generated.

As will be detailed in Section 2.3, the fission yield evaluations did not take into consideration the consistency of fission neutron multiplicity distributions with independent fission yields. Because of this, the covariance matrix that is directly obtained from Step 7 gives variances in the yields that are larger than their corresponding evaluated variances. The correlation and covariance matrices obtained from Step 7 will be called "primary" matrices throughout this publication as they are the matrices that are obtained directly from the method presented.

The covariance matrices that result from this process exhibit variances in the independent yields that are larger than those in the evaluations. In order to address this, a pair of "normalized" correlation and covariance matrices are calculated. The fission yield variances in the normalized covariance matrix are equal to those in the evaluation. The normalized covariance matrix is calculated as the product of the primary correlation matrix and the evaluated fission yield uncertainties. In order to conserve total yield, the sum of the normalized covariance matrix must be zero (as it is in the primary covariance matrix). For all of the compound systems considered, the sum of the covariance matrix obtained by simply taking the product of the primary correlation matrix and the evaluated fission yield uncertainties was greater than zero. To enforce that the sum of the normalized covariance matrix is zero, the negative correlations in the primary correlation matrix were scaled slightly. This scaling was less than 2% in all cases. Both the primary and normalized correlation and covariance matrices are presented to the user at nucleardata.berkeley.edu/FYCoM.

2.2. Cumulative yields

Correlation and covariance matrices can be generated for cumulative yields using the covariance matrices generated for the independent yields. In order to do this, the transformation of independent yields into a given cumulative yield must be known. Evaluations make specific adjustments to these transformations. For example, the ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation obtained cumulative yields from independent yields by taking a weighted average of two different methods [1]. Replicating these adjustments would enhance the consistency of this method with the evaluations, however, a full tabulation of these specific adjustments is not readily available. Instead, this method transformed the independent yields to cumulative yields directly using evaluated decay data. The cumulative yields were obtained by calculating the probability that an independent product will follow a decay path leading to a cumulative product using Eq. (8):

$$Y_{C}(Z,A) = \sum_{i} \left[Y_{I}(Z_{i},A_{i}) \prod_{k=1}^{l} \beta_{k \to k+1} \right]$$
(8)

where $Y_C(Z, A)$ is the cumulative yield being calculated, $Y_I(Z_i, A_i)$ are the independent yields that contribute to the cumulative yield, and $\prod_{k=1}^{i} \beta_{k \to k+1}$ represents the probability that product (Z_i, A_i) follows a decay path to product (Z, A) where each $\beta_{k \to k+1}$ is the decay branching ratio of the *k*th product into the (k + 1)th product in the decay chain.

The decay chains required for Eq. (8) are generated using the Fission Induced Electromagnetic Response code (FIER) [23]. The decay chains generated by FIER include all possible decay paths for each fission product. FIER also provides a table of decay branching ratios parsed from ENDF/B-VIII.0 File 8 [3]. The independent yields are statistically resampled about a multivariate normal distribution using their evaluated values and their covariance matrices generated from the process in Section 2.1. Cumulative yields are then calculated from these resampled independent yields using Eq. (8). This is repeated *N* times such that statistical noise is minimized and the correlation and covariance matrices are calculated from the resulting *N* trials. In this study, N = 10000 was used to produce the presented matrices.

It was again seen that the covariance matrices that result from this process exhibit variances that are larger than those of the evaluated variances in the cumulative yields. This is because the cumulative yield covariance matrices are generated from the primary independent yield covariance matrix. Evaluated independent yields generally have larger evaluated uncertainties than cumulative yields and, as mentioned in Section 2.1, the primary independent yield covariance matrix has larger variances than the evaluation. Therefore, a normalized cumulative yield covariance matrix is also produced using the correlation matrix and the evaluated variances in the cumulative yields. This normalized covariance matrix is simply the product of the correlation matrix and the evaluated uncertainties. Both the primary and normalized cumulative yield covariance matrices are presented to the user at nucleardata.berkeley.edu/FYCoM.

2.3. Generation of consistent P(v, A) data

Neither the ENDF/B-VIII.0 nor JEFF-3.3 evaluations enforced consistency between fission neutron multiplicity distributions and independent fission yields. Because of this there is no evaluated or experimental dataset that gives P(v, A) values that are fully consistent with the independent yields in the evaluation, nor is there complete P(v, A) data that covers all of the compound systems in the evaluation. In order to address this issue, a procedure was developed to obtain P(v, A) data that has the



Fig. 1. Result of the minimization of χ^2 in Eq. (9) for the A = 135 chain of the ²³⁵U fast fission ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation. The blue data are the evaluated yields and the red data are yields generated using Eq. (7) and $P(\nu, A)$ data that minimized Eq. (9). . (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

greatest degree of consistency possible with evaluated yields. Perfect consistency would be achieved if each independent fission yield in the library could be reproduced using Eq. (7). This is the basis for the χ^2 metric in Eq. (9) which judges the consistency between evaluated independent fission yields and those generated using $P(\nu, A)$ data and Eq. (7); perfect consistency would result in $\chi^2 = 0$.

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i} \frac{[Y_{eval}(Z_{i}, A) - Y_{gen}(Z_{i}, A)]^{2}}{Y_{eval}(Z_{i}, A)}$$
(9)

where Y_{eval} are the evaluated independent yields in a given *A* chain and Y_{gen} are those same yields that are generated using P(v, A) data using Eq. (7).

The χ^2 metric in Eq. (9) was minimized for each *A* chain in each of the fissioning systems in the evaluations in order to generate a set of $P(\nu, A)$ data for use in the method presented in Section 2.1. An example of this minimization technique is shown in Fig. 1 which shows the result of minimizing χ^2 in Eq. (9) to obtain $P(\nu, A)$ data for the A = 135 chain of the ²³⁵U fast fission ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation.

In order to conserve mass, P(v, A) should ideally obey the physical condition that $P(v, A) = P(v, A_{CN} - A - v)$. An attempt was made to introduce a term to minimize the differences between P(v, A) and $P(v, A_{CN} - A - v)$ in Eq. (9), however, this introduction made the minimization of Eq. (9) intractable. An iterative normalization method was developed in an attempt to force $P(v, A) = P(v, A_{CN} - A - v)$, however, this resulted in the χ^2 metric becoming unacceptably large. Future work could include attempts to improve the minimization method and metric such that $P(v, A) = P(v, A_{CN} - A - v)$ is met.

It should again be noted that inconsistency between the evaluated yields and those generated using the P(v, A) data results directly from the evaluation itself and the fact that it did not take fission neutron multiplicity data into consideration. This inconsistency has been previously noted by Jaffke et al. [21]. This P(v, A)data is generated to mitigate the effects of this inconsistency on the method presented in Section 2.1. An example of how this generated P(v, A) data improves this method is presented in Fig. 2. It can be seen that a simplistic choice of P(v) creates a bimodal distribution when resampling fission yields: one peak is seen when the heavy side of the fission product distribution is chosen in Step 1 of the method and another when the light side



(a) The independent yield of ¹³²Te resampled 10000 times using this method. Here the choice of the $P(\nu)$ distribution used in the method was an A-independent distribution for ²³⁵U(n,f) taken from Reference [24].



(b) The independent yield of ¹³²Te resampled 10000 times using this method. Here the P(ν, A) distributions used in the method are the generated distributions described in Sec. 2.3.

Fig. 2. Histograms of resampled yields for ¹³²Te with different choices of $P(\nu, A)$. Each histogram contains 10000 entries. The evaluated yields are shown at the black line, banded by red lines representing the evaluated uncertainty of that yield [24]. . (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

is chosen. Using the generated P(v, A) data yields much improved results.

The authors do not recommend the use of this generated P(v, A) data for other applications. Certainly ensuring consistency

between fission neutron multiplicity data and independent fission yields would add to the complexity of an evaluation and may very well be impractical. Future evaluations could attempt to address this by reporting "event" yields rather than independent yields. The "event" yields would report the probability that a given pair of fission products and number of prompt fission neutrons are produced from a given fission event.

2.4. Limitations and benchmarking

This method is able to capture fission yield correlations within a given A chain through Step 3 and correlations between complementary fission products through the use of P(v, A) data in Step 5. However, this method does not fully capture correlations between A chains on the same side of the fission product distribution. This is because those yields are resampled independently of each other. As a result of this deficit, the correlations calculated using this method are expected to be somewhat underestimated.

Without an underlying model of fission, it is difficult to conceive how these correlations would be introduced. This method should be viewed as complementary to the model-based methods mentioned in Section 1. Where this method offers the capability to focus on correlations from the evaluation itself, model-based methods offer the ability to see physical correlations, such as those existing between *A* chains.

In order to assess the efficacy of the method and the effect of the limitations that are acknowledged above, a benchmarking of the method was performed with a model of mass yields. This simple model is detailed in Eq. (10) and consists of two Gaussians, one for the heavy peak and one for the light peak of the fission product distribution.

$$Y(A) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{(A-\mu)^2/2\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{(A-(A_{CN}-\mu-\bar{\nu}))^2/2\sigma^2}$$
(10)

where μ is the centroid of the heavy-product Gaussian, A_{CN} is the mass of the compound nucleus, $\bar{\nu}$ is the average neutron multiplicity of the fissioning system, and σ is the width of both Gaussians.

The neutron multiplicity distribution in this model was set to be a Poisson distribution with a mean of 2.0 for each mass number. This ensures the important condition discussed in Section 2.3 that $P(\nu, A) = P(\nu, A_{CN} - A - \nu)$ is met.

This model of fission has three parameters: μ , σ , and $\bar{\nu}$. Reasonable selections for the values of these three parameters are $\mu = 132 \pm 0.5$, $\sigma = 5 \pm 0.1$, and $\bar{\nu} = 2.0 \pm 0.1$. Using the model in Eq. (10), the mass yields for each *A* were calculated. A Monte-Carlo resampling of the covariances between the mass yields was then performed: the model parameters were varied about their uncertainties 10000 times, the mass yields were recalculated on each of these trials, and the correlations between the mass yields were assessed from these trial results. Fig. 3 shows the correlation matrix between the mass yields calculated from the model given in Eq. (10).

To benchmark the efficacy of the method presented, the yields from Eq. (10) were input to the method to see if their known correlations could be reproduced. In the first test, Step 3 was modified such that the mass yields on the selected side of the fission product distribution were varied using their respective half of the correlation matrix shown in Fig. 3. This was done because of the above-stated limitation that correlations between mass chains are underestimated. By using half of the model correlation matrix in this test, this known limitation is compensated for, thus offering a more direct comparison for benchmarking. The correlation matrix that results from this test is shown in Fig. 4 and the difference between this correlation matrix and the model correlation matrix is shown in Fig. 5. The average absolute



Fig. 3. Correlations between the mass yields calculated from the model given by Eq. (10).



Fig. 4. Correlations between the mass yields generated from this method with resampling of half the model correlation matrix (Fig. 3).

difference between the model correlations and these correlations was 9%.

In the second test, the method was not modified as in the first test; the model yields and their uncertainties were input to the method without any prior knowledge of their correlations. This reflects the same situation as when the evaluated yields are used: only their uncertainties are known, not their correlations. In this test, it is expected that the correlations will be underestimated due to the above-stated limitation that correlations between mass chains are underestimated. The correlation matrix that results from this test is shown in Fig. 6 and the difference between this correlation matrix and the model correlation matrix is shown in Fig. 7. The average absolute difference between the model correlations from the method were 15% less than those of the model, reflecting the known limitation of the method.



Fig. 5. Comparison between the model correlation (Fig. 3) and method correlation (Fig. 4).



Fig. 6. Correlations between the mass yields generated from this method (without modifications to the method).

This benchmarking demonstrates the overall efficacy of this method. The first test demonstrates that the method is able to reproduce known model correlations. The second test demonstrates the limitation of the method. It shows that while the known limitation is non-trivial, it is still reasonably small for a first-order estimate of fission yield correlations.

3. Results

Fig. 8 shows the independent fission yield correlation matrix that was calculated for fast fission of 235 U from the ENDF/B-VII.0 evaluation. Both positive and negative correlations can be seen and indeed the diagonal is identically one. Fig. 9 shows a more illustrative subset of this data; it shows the covariance between the independent yield of 135 Te and those of other fission products as a function of *Z* and *A*. A number of expected trends can be



Fig. 7. Comparison between the model correlation (Fig. 3) and method correlation (Fig. 6).



Fig. 8. The primary correlation matrix for the independent fission yields of the 235 U fast fission ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation. "FY Index" is an index assigned to each fission product and is sorted by atomic number, mass number, and isomeric number in descending order. Thus FY Index 0 has the heaviest *Z* and *A* while FY Index 1016 has the lightest *Z* and *A*.

seen in this figure. First, the yields along the A = 135 axis are all positively correlated; this is expected as the method varies all yields in a given A chain in tandem. Second, this positive correlation is reflected strongly along the A = 99 axis; this is expected as this A chain corresponds to the most probable complementary mass number for the A = 135 chain, $A_{CN} - A - 2$. Finally, negative covariance can be seen surrounding each voxel of strong positive covariance along each Z axis. For example, the Z = 39 axis features positive covariance at A = 98 and A = 99 with all other A on that axis exhibiting negative covariance. This is expected in order to conserve the normalization of P(v, A) distributions; if the yield to one complementary product in the P(v, A) distribution is increased the yield to other complementary products must be decreased.

Because this method does not require an underlying model of fission, it is able to be applied to any fission yield library with



Fig. 9. A plot of the covariance between the independent yield of 135 Te and those of other fission products as a function of *Z* and *A* for the 235 U fast fission ENDF/B-VIII.0 evaluation.

uncertainties. This method was successfully applied to all of the target nuclei and energy groups in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations. Table A lists the systems to which this method was applied.

4. Conclusions

The method presented in Section 2 has been applied to all compound systems in the current ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations to produce independent and cumulative vield correlation and covariance matrices. This method has been benchmarked and code to generate the consistent P(v, A) data and calculate these matrices has been preserved in Ref. [22] as an annotated reproducible workflow. In addition to this, these matrices have been published online at nucleardata.berkeley.edu/FYCoM, making them available for immediate use in applications and calculations by the nuclear science community. This marks the first time that correlation and covariance matrices have been produced for both the independent and cumulative fission product yields for all of the fissioning systems in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations. The presented matrices offer a first-order estimate of correlation/covariance between evaluated fission yields and serve as an interim solution until a new evaluation with a full treatment of these correlations and covariances is conducted.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the US Nuclear Data Program at LBNL under contract DE-AC02-05CH11231 (LBNL), the Department of Energy National Nuclear Security Administration, United States through the Nuclear Science and Security Consortium under Award Number DE-NA0003180, and the NNSA Graduate Fellowship Program, United States. This work was performed under the auspices of the U.S. Department of Energy by Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory under Contract DE-AC52-07NA27344.

The authors would like to thank Dr. Amanda Lewis for her careful and thoughtful review of this publication.

Table A

The target nuclei and energy groups in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF-3.3 evaluations. This method was successfully applied to all of the systems listed in this table.

	ENDF/B-VIII.0	JEFF-3.3
Compound System	Energy Group	
²²⁷ Th	Thermal	
229 _{Th}	Thermal	
232 _{Th}	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)
231 _{Pa}	Fast	
232 _U	Thermal	
233 _U	Thermal	Thermal
	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)
234 _U	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Fast
²³⁵ U	Thermal Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Thermal Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)
236 _U	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Fast
237 _U	Fast	
238 _U	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV) Spontaneous fission	Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)
237 _{Np}	Thermal Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Thermal Fast
238 _{Np}	Fast	Thermal Fast
238 _{Pu}	Fast	Thermal Fast
239 _{Pu}	Thermal Fast DD neutrons (2 MeV) DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Thermal Fast
240 _{pu}	Thermal Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Fast
241 _{Pu}	Thermal Fast	Thermal Fast
242 _{Pu}	Thermal Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Fast
241 _{Am}	Thermal Fast DT neutrons (14 MeV)	Thermal Fast
²⁴² <i>m</i> _{Am}	Thermal	Thermal Fast
243 _{Am}	Fast	Thermal Fast
²⁴² Cm	Fast	Spontaneous fission
243 _{Cm}	Thermal Fast	Thermal Fast
244 _{Cm}	Fast Spontaneous fission	Thermal Fast Spontaneous fission
245 _{Cm}	Thermal	Thermal Fast
246 _{Cm}	Fast Spontaneous fission	
²⁴⁸ Cm	Fast Spontaneous fission	
²⁴⁹ Cf	Thermal	
250 _{Cf}	Spontaneous fission	
²⁵¹ Cf	Thermal	
²⁵² Cf	Spontaneous fission	Spontaneous fission
253 _{Es}	Spontaneous fission	
254 _{Es}	Thermal	
²⁵⁴ Fm	Spontaneous fission	
255 _{Fm}	Thermal	
256 _{Fm}	Spontaneous fission	

Appendix. Supplementary data

In order to provide open and permanent access to the results presented in this publication, the correlation/covariance matrices and the code used to generate them are preserved in an annotated, DOI-citable Zenodo database in Ref. [22]. Zenodo is a general-purpose open-access repository developed under the European OpenAIRE program and operated by CERN [25].

References

- T.R. England, B.F. Rider, Evaluation and Compilation of Fission Product Yields, Tech. Rep. LA-UR-94-3106, Los Alamos National Laboratory, 1994, URL https://t2.lanl.gov/nis/publications/endf349.pdf.
- [2] M.B. Chadwick, T. Kawano, D.W. Barr, M.R. Mac Innes, A.C. Kahler, T. Graves, H. Selby, C.J. Burns, W.C. Inkret, A.L. Keksis, J.P. Lestone, A.J. Sierk, P. Talou, Nucl. Data Sheets 111 (12) (2010) 2923–2964, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nds.2010.11.003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nds.2010.11.003.
- [3] D.A. Brown, M.B. Chadwick, R. Capote, A.C. Kahler, A. Trkov, M.W. Herman, A.A. Sonzogni, Y. Danon, A.D. Carlson, M. Dunn, D.L. Smith, G.M. Hale, G. Arbanas, R. Arcilla, C.R. Bates, B. Beck, B. Becker, F. Brown, RJ. Casperson, J. Conlin, D.E. Cullen, M.A. Descalle, R. Firestone, T. Gaines, K.H. Guber, A.I. Hawari, J. Holmes, T.D. Johnson, T. Kawano, B.C. Kiedrowski, A.J. Koning, S. Kopecky, L. Leal, J.P. Lestone, C. Lubitz, J.I. Márquez Damián, C.M. Mattoon, E.A. McCutchan, S. Mughabghab, P. Navratil, D. Neudecker, G.P. Nobre, G. Noguere, M. Paris, M.T. Pigni, A.J. Plompen, B. Pritychenko, V.G. Pronyaev, D. Roubtsov, D. Rochman, P. Romano, P. Schillebeeckx, S. Simakov, M. Sin, I. Sirakov, B. Sleaford, V. Sobes, E.S. Soukhovitskii, I. Stetcu, P. Talou, I. Thompson, S. van der Marck, L. Welser-Sherrill, D. Wiarda, M. White, J.L. Wormald, R.Q. Wright, M. Zerkle, G. Žerovnik, Y. Zhu, Nucl. Data Sheets (2018) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nds.2018.02.001.
- [4] R.W. Mills, Fission Product Yield Evaluation (Ph.D. thesis), University of Birmingham, 1995, URL http://etheses.bham.ac.uk/id/eprint/4353/.
- [5] M.A. Kellett, O. Bersillon, R.W. Mills, The JEFF-3.1/-3.1.1 Radioactive Decay Data and Fission Yields Sub-Libraries - JEFF Report 20, Tech. Rep., The Nuclear Energy Agency - Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2009, URL https://www.oecd-nea.org/jcms/pl_14322.
- [6] A. Plompen, O. Cabellos, C. De Saint Jean, M. Fleming, A. Algora, M. Angelone, P. Archier, E. Bauge, O. Bersillon, A. Blokhin, et al., Eur. Phys. J. A 56 (7) (2020) 1–108, http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epja/s10050-020-00141-9, URL https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1140/epja/s10050-020-00141-9.pdf.
- [7] L.A. Bernstein, D. Brown, A. Hurst, J. Kelly, F. Kondev, E. McCutchan, C. Nesaraja, R. Slaybaugh, A. Sonzongi, Nuclear Data Needs for Capabilities and Applications, Tech. Rep. LLNL-CONF-676585, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA, 2015, arXiv:1511.07772, https://arxiv.org/abs/1511.07772.
- [8] R.W. Mills, WPEC Subgroup Proposal, Tech. Rep., Nuclear Energy Agency - Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2012, URL https://www.oecd-nea.org/science/wpec/sg37/SG37.pdf.
- [9] G. Fabricante, R. Lorek, A. Mattera, E.A. McCutchan, A.A. Sonzogni, M. Vorabbi, S. Zhu, US National Nuclear Data Week, 2019, URL https://indico. bnl.gov/event/6642/contributions/32356/.
- [10] A.A. Sonzogni, E.A. McCutchan, American Physical Society April Meeting, American Physical Society, Denver, Colorado, 2019, URL http://meetings. aps.org/Meeting/APR19/Session/H12.5.
- [11] F.P. An, A.B. Balantekin, H.R. Band, M. Bishai, S. Blyth, I. Butorov, D. Cao, G.F. Cao, J. Cao, W.R. Cen, Y.L. Chan, J.F. Chang, L.C. Chang, Y. Chang, H.S. Chen, Q.Y. Chen, S.M. Chen, Y.X. Chen, Y. Chen, J.H. Cheng, J. Cheng, Y.P. Cheng, J.J. Cherwinka, M.C. Chu, J.P. Cummings, J. De Arcos, Z.Y. Deng, X.F. Ding, Y.Y. Ding, M.V. Diwan, J. Dove, E. Draeger, D.A. Dwyer, W.R. Edwards, S.R. Ely, R. Gill, M. Gonchar, G.H. Gong, H. Gong, M. Grassi, W.Q. Gu, M.Y. Guan, L. Guo, X.H. Guo, R.W. Hackenburg, R. Han, S. Hans, M. He, K.M. Heeger, Y.K. Heng, A. Higuera, Y.K. Hor, Y.B. Hsiung, B.Z. Hu, L.M. Hu, L.J. Hu, T. Hu, W. Hu, E.C. Huang, H.X. Huang, X.T. Huang, P. Huber, G. Hussain, D.E. Jaffe, P. Jaffke, K.L. Jen, S. Jetter, X.P. Ji, X.L. Ji, J.B. Jiao, R.A. Johnson, L. Kang, S.H. Kettell, S. Kohn, M. Kramer, K.K. Kwan, M.W. Kwok, T. Kwok, T.J. Langford, K. Lau, L. Lebanowski, J. Lee, R.T. Lei, R. Leitner, K.Y. Leung, J.K. Leung, C.A. Lewis, D.J. Li, F. Li, G.S. Li, Q.J. Li, S.C. Li, W.D. Li, X.N. Li, X.Q. Li, Y.F. Li, Z.B. Li, H. Liang, C.J. Lin, G.L. Lin, P.Y. Lin, S.K. Lin, J.J. Ling, J.M. Link, L. Littenberg, B.R. Littlejohn, D.W. Liu, H. Liu, J.L. Liu, J.C. Liu, S.S. Liu, C. Lu, H.Q. Lu, J.S. Lu, K.B. Luk, Q.M. Ma, X.Y. Ma, X.B. Ma, Y.Q. Ma, D.A. Martinez Caicedo, K.T. McDonald, R.D. McKeown, Y. Meng, I. Mitchell, J. Monari Kebwaro, Y. Nakajima, J. Napolitano, D. Naumov, E. Naumova, H.Y. Ngai, Z. Ning, J.P. Ochoa-Ricoux, A. Olshevski, H.R. Pan, J. Park, S. Patton, V. Pec, J.C. Peng, L.E. Piilonen, L. Pinsky, C.S. Pun, F.Z. Qi, M. Qi, X. Qian, N. Raper, B. Ren, J. Ren, R. Rosero, B. Roskovec, X.C. Ruan, B.B. Shao, H. Steiner, G.X. Sun, J.L. Sun, W. Tang, D. Taychenachev, K.V. Tsang, C.E. Tull,

Y.C. Tung, N. Viaux, B. Viren, V. Vorobel, C.H. Wang, M. Wang, N.Y. Wang, R.G. Wang, W. Wang, W.W. Wang, X. Wang, Y.F. Wang, Z. Wang, Z. Wang, Z.M. Wang, H.Y. Wei, L.J. Wen, K. Whisnant, C.G. White, L. Whitehead, T. Wise, H.L. Wong, S.C. Wong, E. Worcester, Q. Wu, D.M. Xia, J.K. Xia, X. Xia, Z.Z. Xing, J.Y. Xu, J.L. Xu, J. Xu, Y. Xu, T. Xue, J. Yan, C.G. Yang, L. Yang, M.S. Yang, M.T. Yang, M. Ye, M. Yeh, B.L. Young, G.Y. Yu, Z.Y. Yu, S.L. Zang, L. Zhan, C. Zhang, H.H. Zhang, J.W. Zhang, Q.M. Zhang, Y.M. Zhang, Y.X. Zhang, Y.M. Zhang, Z.J. Zhang, Z.Y. Zhang, Z.P. Zhang, J. Zhao, Q.W. Zhao, Y.F. Zhao, Y.B. Zhao, L. Zheng, W.L. Zhong, L. Zhou, N. Zhou, H.L. Zhuang, J.H. Zou, Phys. Rev. Lett. (2016) http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.061801, arXiv:1508.04233.

[12] F.P. An, A.B. Balantekin, H.R. Band, M. Bishai, S. Blyth, D. Cao, G.F. Cao, J. Cao, Y.L. Chan, J.F. Chang, Y. Chang, H.S. Chen, Q.Y. Chen, S.M. Chen, Y.X. Chen, Y. Chen, J. Cheng, Z.K. Cheng, J.J. Cherwinka, M.C. Chu, A. Chukanov, J.P. Cummings, Y.Y. Ding, M.V. Diwan, M. Dolgareva, J. Dove, D.A. Dwyer, W.R. Edwards, R. Gill, M. Gonchar, G.H. Gong, H. Gong, M. Grassi, W.Q. Gu, L. Guo, X.H. Guo, Y.H. Guo, Z. Guo, R.W. Hackenburg, S. Hans, M. He, K.M. Heeger, Y.K. Heng, A. Higuera, Y.B. Hsiung, B.Z. Hu, T. Hu, E.C. Huang, H.X. Huang, X.T. Huang, Y.B. Huang, P. Huber, W. Huo, G. Hussain, D.E. Jaffe, K.L. Jen, X.P. Ji, X.L. Ji, J.B. Jiao, R.A. Johnson, D. Jones, L. Kang, S.H. Kettell, A. Khan, S. Kohn, M. Kramer, K.K. Kwan, M.W. Kwok, T.J. Langford, K. Lau, L. Lebanowski, J. Lee, J.H. Lee, R.T. Lei, R. Leitner, J.K. Leung, C. Li, D.J. Li, F. Li, G.S. Li, Q.J. Li, S. Li, S.C. Li, W.D. Li, X.N. Li, X.Q. Li, Y.F. Li, Z.B. Li, H. Liang, C.J. Lin, G.L. Lin, S. Lin, S.K. Lin, Y.C. Lin, J.J. Ling, J.M. Link, L. Littenberg, B.R. Littlejohn, J.L. Liu, J.C. Liu, C.W. Loh, C. Lu, H.Q. Lu, J.S. Lu, K.B. Luk, X.Y. Ma, X.B. Ma, Y.Q. Ma, Y. Malyshkin, D.A. Martinez Caicedo, K.T. McDonald, R.D. McKeown, I. Mitchell, Y. Nakajima, J. Napolitano, D. Naumov, E. Naumova, H.Y. Ngai, J.P. Ochoa-Ricoux, A. Olshevskiy, H.R. Pan, J. Park, S. Patton, V. Pec, J.C. Peng, L. Pinsky, C.S. Pun, F.Z. Qi, M. Qi, X. Qian, R.M. Qiu, N. Raper, J. Ren, R. Rosero, B. Roskovec, X.C. Ruan, H. Steiner, P. Stoler, J.L. Sun, W. Tang, D. Taychenachev, K. Treskov, K.V. Tsang, C.E. Tull, N. Viaux, B. Viren, V. Vorobel, C.H. Wang, M. Wang, N.Y. Wang, R.G. Wang, W. Wang, X. Wang, Y.F. Wang, Z. Wang, Z. Wang, Z.M. Wang, H.Y. Wei, L.I. Wen, K. Whisnant, C.G. White, L. Whitehead, T. Wise, H.L. Wong, S.C. Wong, E. Worcester, C.H. Wu, Q. Wu, W.J. Wu, D.M. Xia, J.K. Xia, Z.Z. Xing, J.L. Xu, Y. Xu, T. Xue, C.G. Yang, H. Yang, L. Yang, M.S. Yang, M.T. Yang, Y.Z. Yang, M. Ye, Z. Ye, M. Yeh, B.L. Young, Z.Y. Yu, S. Zeng, L. Zhan, C. Zhang, C.C. Zhang, H.H. Zhang, J.W. Zhang, Q.M. Zhang, R. Zhang, X.T. Zhang, Y.M. Zhang, Y.X. Zhang, Y.M. Zhang, Z.J. Zhang, Z.Y. Zhang, Z.P. Zhang, J. Zhao, L. Zhou, H.L. Zhuang, J.H. Zou, Phys. Rev. Lett. (2017) http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.251801, arXiv:1704.01082.

- [13] L. Fiorito, A. Stankovskiy, G. Van Den Eynde, C.J. Diez, O. Cabellos, P.E. Labeau, Ann. Nucl. Energy (2016) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anucene.2015. 10.027.
- [14] D. Rochman, O. Leray, A. Vasiliev, H. Ferroukhi, A.J. Koning, M. Fleming, J.C. Sublet, Ann. Nucl. Energy (2016) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anucene.2016. 05.005.
- [15] O. Leray, D. Rochman, M. Fleming, J.C. Sublet, A. Koning, A. Vasiliev, H. Ferroukhi, EPJ Web of Conferences, 2017, http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/ epjconf/201714609023.
- [16] N. Terranova, O. Serot, P. Archier, C. De Saint Jean, M. Sumini, Ann. Nucl. Energy (2017) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anucene.2017.05.052.
- [17] M.T. Pigni, I.C. Gauld, M.L. Williams, F. Havluj, D. Wiarda, G. Ilas, WPEC - Subgroup 37, Nuclear Energy Agency - Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Issy-les-Moulineaux, France, 2013, URL https://www.oecd-nea.org/science/wpec/sg37/Meetings/2013_ May/32_Pigni_Cov.pdf.
- [18] K.H. Schmidt, B. Jurado, C. Amouroux, General Description of Fission Observables - GEF Model, Tech. Rep., The Nuclear Energy Agency -Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2014, URL.
- [19] K.H. Schmidt, B. Jurado, GEFY : GEF-Based Fission-Fragment Yield Library in ENDF-Format, Centre Etudes Nucléaires de Bordeaux Gradignan, 2020, URL https://www.cenbg.in2p3.fr/GEFY-GEF-based-fission-fragment.
- [20] B. Voirin, G. Kessedjian, A. Chebboubi, S. Julien-Laferrière, O. Serot, EPJ Nucl. Sci. Technol. 4 (2018) 26, http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/epjn/2018030.
- [21] P. Jaffke, Nucl. Sci. Eng. 190 (3) (2018) 258–270, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 00295639.2018.1429173.
- [22] E.F. Matthews, Reproducible workflow for "stochastically estimated covariance matrices for independent and cumulative fission yields in the ENDF/B-VIII.0 and JEFF 3.1 evaluations", 2020, http://dx.doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.4580536, URL https://github.com/efmatthews/FYCoM.
- [23] E.F. Matthews, B.L. Goldblum, L.A. Bernstein, B.J. Quiter, J.A. Brown, W. Younes, J.T. Burke, S.W. Padgett, J.J. Ressler, A.P. Tonchev, Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. A 891 (2018) 111–117, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. nima.2018.02.072.
- [24] J.P. Lestone, Energy and isotope dependence of neutron multiplicity distributions, 2014, https://arxiv.org/abs/1409.5346.
- [25] European Organization For Nuclear Research and OpenAIRE, Zenodo, CERN, 2013, http://dx.doi.org/10.25495/7GXK-RD71, URL https://www.zenodo. org/.